CASE NO.: 2007-KA-01268-COA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

EDGAR LEE COMMODORE, JR.,)	
)	
Defendant - Appellant,)	
v.)	ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED
)	
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,)	
)	
Plaintiff - Appellee.)	

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Edgar Lee Commodore, Jr.
Defendant/Appellant
Inmate ID No.: 117154
Mississippi State Penitentiary
Post Office Box 1057
Parchman, MS 38738

Tony L. Axam

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY
I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL
II. A RATIONAL TRIER OF FACT COULD NOT HAVE FOUND APPELLANT GUILTY OF ATTEMPTED AGGRAVATED ASSAULT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT
III. DEFENDANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED WHEN HE RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL
A. Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel When His Trial Attorney Failed To Adequately Prepare Petitioner For His Testimony
B. Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel When His Trial Attorney Failed To Adequately Investigate Defendant's Case 20
C. Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel When His Trial Attorney Failed To Adequately Question And Cross Examine Witnesses
D. Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel When His Trial Attorney Failed To Request Proper Curative Instructions Following Improper Testimony Which Was Timely Objected To And Properly Sustained By The Court

	E. Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel When His Trial Attorney Failed To Adequately Confer With Defendant And Protect Defendant's Rights
	F. Trial Counsel's Errors, Both Individually and Cumulatively Amounted To Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel
IV.	THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO AMEND THE INDICTMENT IN ORDER TO SENTENCE DEFENDANT AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER AND SO THAT THE INDICTMENT WOULD CONFORM WITH THE STATE'S PROOFS
٧.	THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE AMENDED INDICTMENT TO STAND WHEN THE STATE FAILED TO TIMELY FILE THE AMENDED INDICTMENT IN ORDER TO SENTENCE DEFENDANT AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER
VI.	THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN, DESPITE OBJECTION BY DEFENDANT, IT ALLOWED TESTIMONY AS TO DEFENDANT'S INTENT
CONCLUSION	N
CERTIFICAT	TE OF SERVICE
CEDETEL CA	PE OF ETITIO 20

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASELAW

Burks v. State, 770 So.2d 960 (Miss.2000)
Burt v. State, 493 So.2d 1325 (1986)
Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836 (Miss.2005)
Byrom v. State, 863 So.2d 836 (Miss.2003)
<u>Duke v. State</u> , 340 So.2d 727 (1976)
<u>Evans v. State</u> , 422 So.2d 737 (1982)
Forrest v. State, 352 So.2d 1328 (Miss.1977)
<u>Gray v. State</u> , 375 So.2d 994 (1979)25
<u>Greenlee v. State</u> , 725 So.2d 816 (1998)33
<u>Griffin v. State</u> , 584 So.2d 1274 (1991)
<pre>Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948 (Miss.1997)</pre>
<pre>Herron v. State, 287 So.2d 759 (Miss.1974)</pre>
Homick v. State, 112 Nev. 304, 913 P.2d 1280 (1996)
<u>Hughes v. State</u> , 376 So.2d 1349 (1979)
<u>Jackson v. Virginia</u> , 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781,
61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)
<u>Kimmelman v. Morrison</u> , 477 U.S. 365, 106 S.Ct. 2574 (1986)31
<u>Lambert v. State</u> , 462 So.2d 308(Miss.1984)
<u>Leonard v. State</u> , 114 Nev. 1196, 969 P.2d 288 (Nev.1998) 29
<u>Miller v. State</u> , 740 So.2d 858 (1999)
Mohr v. State, 584 So.2d 426 (Miss.1991)
Montgomery v. State, 891 So.2d 179 (2004)
Myrick v. State, 290 So.2d 259 (Miss.1974)

Pharr v. State, 465 So.2d 294 (Miss.1984)
<u>Puckett v. State</u> , 879 So.2d 920 (Miss.2004)
Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968 (2007)
<u>Shore v. State</u> , 287 So.2d 766 (Miss.1974)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052,
80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)
<u>Stringer v. State</u> , 454 So.2d 468 (Miss.1984)
<u>Williamson v. State</u> , 64 Miss. 229, 1 So. 171 (1886) 34
MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE
Rule 61
UNIFORM CIRCUIT AND COUNTY COURT RULES
Rule 7.09

STATEMENT FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendant requests oral argument in this matter on the grounds that there are numerous issues on appeal. Defendant further asserts that the instant appeal is not frivolous, that the dispositive issues herein have not been recently authoritatively decided, that the facts and legal arguments cannot be adequately presented in the briefs and record and that the decisional process would be significantly aided by oral argument.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL
- II. A RATIONAL TRIER OF FACT COULD NOT HAVE FOUND APPELLANT GUILTY OF ATTEMPTED AGGRAVATED ASSAULT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT
- III. DEFENDANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED WHEN HE RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL
 - A. Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel When His Trial Attorney Failed To Adequately Prepare Petitioner For His Testimony
 - B. Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel When His Trial Attorney Failed To Adequately Investigate Defendant's Case
 - C. Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel When His Trial Attorney Failed To Adequately Question And Cross Examine Witnesses
 - D. Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel When His Trial Attorney Failed To Request Proper Curative Instructions Following Improper Testimony Which Was Timely Objected To And Properly Sustained By The Court
 - E. Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel When His Trial Attorney Failed To Adequately Confer With Defendant And Protect Defendant's Rights
 - F. Trial Counsel's Errors, Both Individually and Cumulatively Amounted To Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel
- IV. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO AMEND THE INDICTMENT IN ORDER TO SENTENCE DEFENDANT AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER AND SO THAT THE INDICTMENT WOULD CONFORM WITH THE STATE'S PROOFS
- V. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE AMENDED INDICTMENT TO STAND WHEN THE STATE FAILED TO TIMELY FILE THE AMENDED INDICTMENT IN ORDER TO SENTENCE DEFENDANT AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER
- VI. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED WHEN, DESPITE OBJECTION BY DEFENDANT, IT ALLOWED TESTIMONY AS TO DEFENDANT'S INTENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant was indicted on charges of conspiracy to commit a burglary, burglary, attempted grand larceny and attempted aggravated assault. $(R^1. 10-11)$ After a jury trial which commenced on 29 November 2005 and concluded on 30 November 2005, Defendant was found quilty on all charges. (R. 151-152) On 14 December 2005, Defendant was sentenced to serve twenty (20) years, day for day, as a habitual offender, to wit: five (5) years on Count 1, conspiracy; seven (7) years on Count 2, burglary; ten (10) years on Count 3, attempted grand larceny; and twenty (20) years on Count 5, attempted aggravated assault, to run concurrently. (ST2. 34, 35; Denial Of Post-Trial Motions And Sentence Of The Court As A Habitual Offender, R. 156-157) On 19 December 2005, Defendant, through new counsel, A. E. Rusty Harlow, Jr., filed a Motion for Reconsideration or in the Alternative for New Trial. (R. 234) On 21 February 2006, Defendant filed a Motion For Leave To File Out-Of-Time Appeal And An Extension To File Appeal. (R. 163) Defendant retained undersigned counsel, who was admitted, pro hac vice, on 7 November 2006. (R. 182, 184) On 21 May 2007, Defendant filed his Motion For New Trial and Brief In Support Thereof. (R. 200 -226) The Court heard hearings on Defendant's post-trial motions on 29 January 2007, 21 May 2007 and 25 June 2007 and, on 6 July

¹ R denotes references to the Record on appeal.

² ST denotes references to the Sentencing Transcript.

2007, the trial court issued an order granting the motion for out of time appeal, denying Defendant's Motion For New Trial and reopening the period for appeal. (R. 242) Defendant timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. 19 July 2007) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On 18 October 2004, Edgar Commodore was picking up his nephew, George Stevenson, from a friend's house in DeSoto County. (T³. 188) Mr. Roosevelt Hill called Commodore and asked him to come and see Hill's aunt's new house. (T. 188, 189) Roosevelt Hill was already at the house when Commodore arrived and a light was on inside. (T. 189, 196, 198)

Deborah Hill, who lived across the street, heard a loud vehicle, saw a headlight shine up into her window, looked out the window and saw some vehicles backing up to the house. (T. 123, 124) Her husband, Brian Hill, observed two vehicles parked backwards into the driveway. Brian Hill retrieved his gun, drove across the street and parked his car so that neither vehicle could get out of the driveway. (T. 107, 108) There was no activity at the house when Brian Hill pulled up. (T. 109, 110) Brian Hill testified that he never saw the men in the house. (T. 113, 118, 125) However, Deborah Hill testified that she saw the men come out of the house. (T. 124, 126)

 $^{^{3}}$ T denotes references to the Trial Transcript.

Commodore had left his truck running and was walking towards the house when Brian Hill approached and asked him what he was doing there. (T. 189, 200) Roosevelt Hill ran past Commodore, got into his vehicle and fled. (T. 110, 189, 200) Brian Hill did not attempt to pursue Roosevelt Hill, instead, he pulled out his gun and turned on Commodore. (T. 154, 189) Commodore jumped into his vehicle, ducked down to avoid being shot, and drove away. (T. 189) Deborah Hill was watching form her window and called the police. (T. 125)

Brian Hill followed Defendant's vehicle until Defendant was stopped by police. (T. 113, 190) Commodore thought that the officers were responding to the shots fired and stopped his vehicle. (T. 190) Officer Danielle Beith, an officer with the Southaven Police Department, responded to the call, activated her emergency equipment and initiated a stop on Defendant's vehicle. (T. 128, 129) Officer Beith testified that, after she read Commodore his rights, he first advised that he was picking up his nephew from his girlfriend's house and then admitted that he was a lookout for another guy who was going to steal a dishwasher out of one of the houses under construction in the area. (T. 131, 132, 263) Officer Beith testified that Commodore never complained about being shot at. (T. 264, 267)

Officer Todd Pierce, also a police officer with the Southaven Police Department, responded to the call as well. (T.

173, 174) Officer Pierce testified that Commodore admitted to being a lookout while Roosevelt Hill stole a dishwasher. (T. 174, 177, 267).

However, Commodore testified that he spoke with both officer Beith and Officer Pierce and informed them that Roosevelt Hill asked him to come and look at a house in the area. (T. 191) Commodore advised the officers that Roosevelt Hill was in the house when he arrived, but that he did not know how Roosevelt Hill had entered the house and he didn't see Roosevelt Hill steal anything from the house. (T. 191) Commodore never told officers that he was a lookout for Roosevelt Hill. (T. 191, 195, 209) Commodore did advise the officers that he was shot at during the incident. (207, 208) This was confirmed by Officer Pierce's testimony. (T. 174)

Officers also stopped and arrested Roosevelt Hill, a convicted felon who had previously served time for armed robbery. (T. 155-158) When Roosevelt Hill was initially asked why Commodore was at the house, he told police that he didn't know and that he didn't know where he and Commodore met that night. (T. 156, 165, 166)

However, after being arrested and indicted, Roosevelt Hill changed his story and testified that Commodore asked him to serve as look out while Commodore stole items from the house.

(T. 151). Roosevelt Hill testified that Commodore lead the way

to the house and that Commodore and another man went into the house while he sat in the van. (T. 153, 153) When Brian hill pulled up, Roosevelt Hill claims that he was still sitting in his van but then exited the vehicle. (T. 154) Roosevelt Hill claims that Commodore and the other man then came running out of the house at which time he got back into his van and drove away. (T. 154).

Commodore did not try to run over or strike Brian Hill with his vehicle. (T. 189) Commodore did not take anything out of the house and testified that he did not know anyone who took anything out of the house. (T. 190)

Steven Cannon, the owner of the home THAT was allegedly burglarized, testified that he went to his house after being advised that it was burglarized. (T. 139) Cannon noticed that the microwave/vent-a-hood and the cooktop were missing and that the double oven and dishwasher were pulled away from the wall and cabinet. (T. 140) However, Officer Pierce testified that nothing was found in either Commodore's or Roosevelt Hill's vehicles. (T. 178) Officer Pierce also testified that there was no evidence that anything was taken and the appliances that Cannon claims were missing were never located. (T. 178).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred when it denied Defendant's motion for new trial and failed to provide any reasoning, in its order

denying Defendant's motion, explaining the court's denial of Defendant's motion.

The evidence was insufficient to support Defendant's conviction and sentence in that the question of Defendant's guilt hinged solely on the credibility of witnesses, evidence against Defendant was weak, there were conflicts in the evidence, alleged eyewitness testimony was inconsistent, there was a lack of evidence and testimony as to a material issue in the case, to wit: Defendant's intent, was erroneous admitted at trial.

Trial counsel's actions and omissions, individually and cumulatively, amounted to ineffective assistance. Trial counsel failed to adequately investigate Defendant's case, failed to adequately investigate Defendant's criminal history, failed to adequately investigate State's witnesses and co-defendant such that he could sufficiently cross-examine and impeach, failed to request curative instructions such that the jury would not be unduly influenced by inadmissible testimony and failed to discuss the case and evidence with Defendant and failed to adequately prepare Defendant to testify on his own behalf.

The Circuit Court erred when it sentenced Defendant as a habitual offender when, despite granting leave for the State to amend the indictment to add habitual offender language, the State failed to file the amendment. Thus, the Circuit Court

sentenced Defendant as a habitual offender under an un-amended indictment which failed to allege habitual offender status as to Defendant.

The Circuit Court erred when it allowed the speculative and opinion testimony of State's witnesses as to a material issue in the case, to wit: the intent of Defendant.

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL

A motion for new trial challenges the weight of the evidence. Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968 (2007). When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, This Court will disturb a verdict only when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. Id. citing Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss.2005); Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997). This Court has stated that, on a motion for new trial, the court sits as a thirteenth juror, and the evidence is weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. Id. A finding that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence indicates that the Court disagrees with the jury's resolution of conflicting evidence and requires a new trial. Id. "This Court has not hesitated to invoke its authority to order a new trial and allow a second jury to pass on the evidence where

it considers the first jury's determination of guilt to be based on extremely weak or tenuous evidence[,] even where that evidence is sufficient to withstand a motion for a directed verdict." Lambert v. State, 462 So.2d 308, 322 (Miss.1984) (Lee, J., dissenting) citing Shore v. State, 287 So.2d 766 (Miss.1974). A greater quantum of evidence favoring the State is necessary for the State to withstand a motion for a new trial, as distinguished from a motion for J.N.O.V. Pharr v. State, 465 So.2d 294, 302 (Miss.1984).

In the instant case, Defendant asserts the State did not meet its burden to withstand Defendant's motion for new trial, that Defendant proved insufficiency of the evidence and that Defendant showed that the evidence did not weigh heavily in favor of the verdict. First, the Circuit Court erred in denying Defendant's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. The Circuit Court found that:

some of the actions of Commodore's attorney was trial strategy. Also, the Court finds that Commodore has not set forth credible proof of his allegations and his motion should be denied on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel and his other grounds. (R. 242)

Defendant raised at least five (5) areas where trial counsel was deficient. The Circuit Court stated that it only considered some of trial counsel's actions trial strategy. The Circuit Court failed to identify the number of actions it found to be trial strategy, failed explain which actions were trial strategy

and failed to even make reference to the remaining actions which Defendant asserts constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Further, Defendant asserts that he provided credible proof that trial counsels actions were deficient as discussed fully in section III, infra.

In denying Defendant's Motion For New Trial, the Circuit

Court summarily denied relief on all other issues raised in

Defendant's motion without any explanation or citation to the

record. However, as discussed fully in the sections below

Defendant shows that there was insufficient evidence to support

the conviction, there were conflicts in the evidence, a lack of

evidence and erroneously admitted evidence that proved to be

highly prejudicial to Defendant resulting a denial of

Defendant's fair trial rights.

II. A RATIONAL TRIER OF FACT COULD NOT HAVE FOUND APPELLANT GUILTY OF ATTEMPTED AGGRAVATED ASSAULT BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT

Appellant's conviction should be reversed because of the insufficiency of the evidence. When a criminal defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his or her conviction, "the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." (Emphasis original.)

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318-319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61

L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). The jury resolves conflicts in the testimony, weighs the evidence, and draws reasonable inferences from the evidence. Id.

Here, the evidence is not competent to support each fact necessary to make out the State's case for attempted aggravated assault. The testimony of Roosevelt Hill is questionable, and speculative, at best, as to any conduct by Defendant which would constitute attempted aggravated assault. Mr. Hill was impeached when he admitted that, at a minimum, he was untruthful when he spoke with police officers. (T. 172) Additionally, Roosevelt Hill gave two (2) separate statements to officers, which wholly contradicted one another. (T. 168 - 172) Roosevelt Hill's testimony is also questionable as to whether he actually witnesses Defendant's actions as they relate to the attempted aggravated assault charge since Roosevelt Hill was already in his truck and was fleeing the scene prior to the time when Defendant began to drive his vehicle away. (T. 116) admits, in its ruling on Defendant's motion for directed verdict, that, if the only evidence of the attempted aggravated assault was the testimony of Roosevelt Hill, then that would not be enough.

The Court reasoned that the testimony of Brian Hill essentially supported the State's case for attempted aggravated assault. However, Brian Hill's testimony is contradictory and,

if anything, supports Defendant's theory of defense, to wit:

Defendant was attempting to get away from a man who pulled a gun out on him. Brian Hill testifies that Defendant attempted to hit him with his vehicle and that he did not pull his gun until he saw Defendant coming towards him.

- A. ...the person getting in the white vehicle had to run around to their truck, and I proceeded around the front of my truck towards the front of his truck to try to stop him from leaving.
- Q. And so what happened at this point?
- A. At that point, I got in front of the vehicle. I pointed my gun at the driver of the vehicle when he began to put the vehicle in gear like he was going to come towards me. (T. 110)

However, Brian Hill's own testimony contradicts this contention when he testified, on cross-examination, to the following:

- Q. Now you also jumped in front of Commodore's vehicle trying to prevent him to leave—I mean, prevent his leaving: is that correct?
- A. That's correct. (T. 118)
- Q. Okay, when did you draw your gun?
- A. ...After Mr. Roosevelt Hill jumped in his vehicle and I was headed toward this guys vehicle. (T. 120)

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