#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EDGAR LEE COMMODORE, JR.

**APPELLANT** 

FILED

VS.

APR 1 4 2008

NO. 2007-KA-1268

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO:

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

### **

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

and that he believed that he adequately represented Commodore at trial. (Tr. 393.)

Beck testified that he presented Commodore with an opportunity to plead as a nonhabitual offender, but that Commodore and his father insisted that they wanted a trial even though they were aware that the State would follow through and pursue him as an habitual offender. (Tr. 395).

There is every indication that from the record that Commodore was well-advised prior to giving his testimony and that he simply chose not to follow the advice of counsel. It is further evident from the record that Commodore's attorney thoroughly investigated the case. These issues are without merit and the decision of the trial court should be affirmed.

Commodore also argues that his trial attorney rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to adequately question and cross examine witnesses and failing to offer curative instructions following improper testimony. Commodore is unable to overcome the "strong presumption that the attorney's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional conduct and strategy." *Lattimore v. State*, 958 So.2d 192, 200 (Miss.2007) (*citing Leatherwood v. State*, 473 So.2d 964, 969 (Miss.1985)). Nor can Commodore overcome the presumption "that all decisions made during the course of trial were strategic." *Id.* (*citing Leatherwood*, 473 So.2d at 969).

Commodore argues that the testimony of Deborah and Brian Hill is contradictory and that his trial counsel should have attempted to impeach them. He alleges that their testimony was the "only evidence in the case" and that this omission cannot be considered trial strategy. However, a clear review of their testimony reveals they were thoroughly cross examined and discrepancies in testimony were highlighted for the jury. Commodore's trial counsel deliberately characterized

Commodore's flight as fleeing from Hill, who had a gun, and emphasized Hill's speculation as to Commoore's intent. He emphasized that Hill placed himself directly in front of Commodore's vehicle with a drawn gun. He in fact got an admission from Hill that Commodore was fleeing.

Deborah Hill had little evidence to give except that at about 11:00 p.m. she heard a loud vehicle and saw a headlight shine in her window. She looked out the window and saw "some" vehicles back up to her neighbor's unoccupied house with their tailgates facing the garage. Her husband went over to check and see if it was people getting ready to move into the house. She saw "a few" men come out of the house when her husband went over to check on things. (Tr. 129-130) She was unable to identify any of the men who came out of the house. The value of impeaching a witness with so little testimony to offer is questionable and certainly a question of strategy for the trial lawyer.

Commodore also argues that trial counsel failed to request a curative instruction following Officer Beith's testimony on rebuttal examination that Commodore confessed to being a lookout man. An objection as to hearsay was sustained. Again, this is a strategic decision by trial counsel. Further, the trial court instructed the jury to disregard all evidence which was excluded from consideration during the course of trial. (C.P. 134) Reviewing courts presume that jurors follow the instructions of the circuit court. *King v. State*, 857 So.2d 702, 724 (Miss.2003). Commodore has not overcome this presumption or the presumption that the actions of his trial counsel in questioning witnesses and making trial motions were strategic. There is no merit to these issues and the ruling of the trial court should be affirmed.

Commodore argues that his trial counsel did not adequately protect his rights when after the trial court had ruled that only the robbery conviction could be used for impeachment purposes and Commodore then took the stand and testified as to his other prior conviction. However, the record of the hearing on Commodore's Motion for New Trial reflects that Commodore's trial counsel did advise Commodore that is he testified he could be impeached with his crimes if he offered information. (Tr. 391) Commodore's trial counsel testified that he advised Commodore that if he was going to take the witness stand not to volunteer any information at all and to answer the questions asked as briefly as possible. (Tr. 392) Further, Commodore's trial counsel adamantly testified that he conveyed numerous plea offers to Commodore and that Commodore was aware that he would be pursued as a habitual offender if he went to trial. (Tr. 394.)

Commodore's assignments of error are without merit and the rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

Commodore alleges that these assignments of error as to his counsel's adequacy at trial constitute cumulative error. However, the record reflects that Commodore's trial counsel ably represented a recalcitrant and uncooperative defendant and these assignments of error are without merit whether taken singly or as a whole. Where there is no error in any part, there can be no cumulative error that demands reversal. *Wilson v. State*, 936 So.2d 357, 365 (Miss.2006).

Finally, Commodore has not shown error on the part of his counsel, nor any prejudice as the result of any alleged error. There is a strong presumption that an attorney's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968 (Miss. 2007). Perfect representation in hindsight is not the standard, and Commodore was not entitled to errorless counsel. *Stringer v. State*, 454 So.2d 476 (Miss. ). The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689.

# IV. The Trial Court correctly allowed the State to amend the indictment in order to sentence the defendant as an habitual offender.

Commodore argues that the trial court erred when it allowed the State to amend the indictment to charge Commodore as an habitual offender. The purpose of amending an indictment to include the language regarding an accused's previous convictions is to change the accused's status during sentencing, not to add an additional element to the charged crime. "[P]rior offenses used to charge the defendant as an habitual offender are not substantive elements of the offense charged." Swington v. State, 742 So.2d 1106, 1118 (Miss.1999). As in Shumaker v. State, 956 So.2d 1078, 1087 (Miss.Ct.App.2007), the indictment was not amended until after the trial verdict but before sentencing. "The test for whether an amendment to the indictment will prejudice the defense is whether the defense as it originally stood would be equally available after the amendment is made." Shumaker, 956 So.2d at 1087. Rule 7.08 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules provides that:

All indictments may be amended as to form but not as to the substance of the offense charged. Indictments may also be amended to charge the defendant as an habitual offender or to elevate the level of offense where the offense is one which is subject to enhanced punishment for subsequent offences and the amendment is to assert prior offenses justifying such enhancement. . . . Amendment shall be allowed only if the defendant is afforded a fair opportunity to present a defense and is not unfairly surprised.

Furthermore, in *Sowell v. State*, 970 So.2d 752 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007), the Mississippi Court of Appeals opined:

Rule 7.09 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court allows the amendment of indictments to charge a defendant as an habitual offender. *See also Gray v. State*, 926 So.2d 961, 974 (Miss.Ct.App.2006). However, according to Rule 7.09, any amendments to the indictment "shall be allowed only if the

defendant is afforded a fair opportunity to present a defense and is not unfairly surprised." The trial court found that there was no evidence of surprise as Sowell had been notified of the motion to amend the indictment early in the proceedings against him to charge him as a Section 99-19-83 habitual offender. We agree with the trial court and find no merit to this issue.

Sowell also makes broad assertions that his due process rights were violated when the indictment was amended to reflect his habitual offender status because he had no opportunity to object. However, although Sowell did not provide this Court with a transcript of his plea colloquy, Sowell admits that he was informed of sentencing recommendations prior to his guilty plea. Again we refer to the trial court's order finding that Sowell was aware early in the proceedings that he was to be charged as an habitual offender. This issue is without merit.

Sowell at 39.

Here, Commodore was advised, prior to trial, of the consequences of going to trial and receiving a guilty verdict in light of his past criminal history. Commodore was not prejudiced by the change in the indictment, since he was already advised of the risk of proceeding to trial, and was aware of all of his previous convictions. Amendments to indictments to charge the defendant as an habitual offender are permissible at any time prior to sentencing since they affect only the form and not the substance of the charge. This error is without merit and the judgement of the trial court should be affirmed.

# V. The Trial Court did not err when it allowed the amended indictment to stand where the State had not filed the indictment.

Prior to trial, the State moved to amend Commodore's indictment to sentence him as an habitual offender. Commodore had been offered a plea agreement which would have allowed him to be sentenced as a non-habitual offender, but he had declined the plea. Therefore, when the plea agreement was rejected, the State then determined to try Commodore as an habitual

offender and moved the Trial Court to allow the amendment. The Trial Court correctly held that a motion to amend the indictment to habitual offender status is one of form and not substance and that is its timely, if ordered by the court, even after the trial on the merits but before the sentencing of the defendant. (Tr. 95, 96). On the date of the sentencing hearing, the State had not yet filed the amended indictment. However, the Trial Court had granted the amendment prior to trial. The State produced certified copies of Commodore's prior convictions to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Commodore had convictions for statutory rape and aggravated assault.

Commodore was properly noticed and the Trial Court permitted the indictment to be amended, which finding was subject to the Court making a finding as a matter of fact and a matter of law that Commodore was an habitual offender within the meaning of A formal order amending indictment, signed by the court was filed on the November 29, 2005, the date the original motion was made prior to trial. The order noted that the amendment contained the quote "against the peace and dignity". Commodore's counsel argued that Commodore was not served with a formal amended indictment, however the Trial Court held that was not fatal, since Commodore was present in the courtroom and represented by counsel for the motion and when the order was presented. There was, therefore, no surprise to the defendant. The Trial Court therefore held that Commodore was properly before the Trial Court as an habitual offender, noting the prior certified convictions which meet the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-81 were contained in the record.

In Jones v. State, 902 So.2d 593 (Miss.Ct.App. 2004), the Court of Appeals opined:

Jones argues that the circuit court erred in failing to quash the habitual offender portion of the indictment as void. He explains that the circuit court's order which amended his original indictment

failed to include the language of "against the peace and dignity of the state" and therefore violates section 169 of the Mississippi Constitution. The original indictment concluded with the phrase, "against the peace and dignity of the state." Jones concludes that since the original indictment was amended to charge Jones as an habitual offender, the amendment was defective because of the omission of the required language. Citing McNeal v, State, 658 So.2d 1345 (Miss.1995), Jones concludes that the circuit court should have held that the habitual portion of his indictment was fatally defective, granted his motion to quash the indictment, and vacated his habitual offender sentence. The State counters that McNeal is not applicable and that the amendment to the indictment conformed with constitutional requirements.

We agree with the State that McNeal is not applicable to the case sub judice. In McNeal, the defendant challenged the validity of his indictment as an habitual offender because the habitual portion was preceded by the language of "against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi." Id. at 1348-49. In fact, the part of the indictment charging McNeal as an habitual offender was on a separate page from the rest of the indictment. Finding that Section 169 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 requires an indictment to conclude with the language, "against the peace and dignity," our supreme court vacated the habitual charge against McNeal. Id. at 1350. In the case before us, the indictment was amended to charge Jones as an habitual offender. As previously stated, Jones's original indictment was proper, concluding with the required language. A separate order amended the indictment. There was no new indictment. Jones equates the separate order with the separate page in McNeal. The separate order stated that the indictment was amended to include the language charging Jones as an habitual offender. However, it did not state or indicate any point of insertion in the indictment, just that the indictment was amended to include the habitual offender language.

We have not been able to find a case addressing the exact question presented here, that is, whether an indictment-which has been amended by a court order but which order does not conclude with the language, "against the peace and dignity of the state"-comports with the requirement of Section 169 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 that "all indictments shall conclude 'against the peace and dignity of the state.' " Although we have found no authority, we

need not resolve the issue today. It is sufficient to say that Jones never objected to the amended indictment on the ground upon which he now objects in his appellate brief. While he objected to the State's motion to amend the indictment and again raised the issue in his post-trial motion, he never questioned the legality of the amendment on the basis he now presents. The closest he came was his assertion in his post-trial motion that the indictment "was spliced together." He never explained what he meant by the phrase.

Rule 7.09 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules permits the amendment of indictments to charge a defendant as an habitual offender. That is what was allowed by the trial judge. We find no merit in this issue.

As in Jones, the original indictment in the case sub judice contained the phrase "against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi." (C.P. 10-12) Further, the Order amending the indictment to charge Commodore as an habitual offender pursuant to Section 99-19-81 requires that the amendments be inserted into the indictment in Counts 1, 2, 3 and 5, subsequent to the elements of the offense and preceding the mandated language, "against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi." Therefore, there is no merit to this assignment of error and the ruling of the Trial Court should be affirmed.

# VI. The Trial Court did not err in allowing Brian Hill's testimony as to Commodore's intent to run over Hill with his vehicle.

Commodore cites no authority for this position. Therefore, this argument is procedurally barred for a lack of relevant authority. Arguments advanced on appeal must "contain the contentions of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, and the reasons for those contentions, with citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record relied on."

M.R.A.P. 28(a)(6). "Failure to comply with [Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure] 28(a)(6) renders an argument procedurally barred." Birrages v. Ill. Cent. R.R., 950 So.2d 188, 194

(Miss.Ct.App.2006).

However, should the court reach the merits of this issue, Mississippi Rule of Evidence 701 permits opinion testimony from lay witnesses when that testimony "is limited to those opinions or inferences which are (a) rationally based on the perception of the witness...."

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